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Q.
Please state your name and business address.
A.
My name is Henry McIntosh.  My business address is Chandler Plaza Building, 1300 South Evergreen Park Drive SW, Olympia, Washington, 98504-7250.

Q.
By whom are you employed and in what capacity?
A.
I am employed by the Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission as a Regulatory Analyst.  I work on energy issues.

Q.
Please describe your education and relevant employment experience in the energy industry and utility regulation?
A.
I received AB and MA degrees from the University of California at Riverside, and an MBA degree from the University of California at Los Angeles.  With respect to my work at the Commission, I am responsible for analysis and reporting on issues in the electric and natural gas industries, review of tariff and rate case filings, review of least cost plan and request for proposal filings, and various other tasks.  I have worked for R. W. Beck, an energy consulting firm; PNM Public Service of New Mexico, an investor-owned electric and gas utility; and the Research and Planning Staff of the Missouri Public Service Commission.  In all, I have approximately 29 years of experience in the energy utility industry.  I have been employed by the Commission for about 11 years and have appeared in many open meetings and formal proceedings.  I presented Staff testimony before the Commission in Docket No. UE-001734, involving PacifiCorp.  I was the power supply analyst in PSE's general rate case, Docket No. UE-011570, which created the PCA and PCORC filings PSE uses today.  I presented Staff testimony in PSE's first PCORC, Docket No. UE-031725, on overall power supply costs and the prudence of the acquisition of a 49.85 % interest in Fredrickson I.
Q.
Please explain the scope of your testimony?

A.
My testimony supports paragraph E of the Settlement Agreement, which addresses changes in the Company’s full power supply portfolio.  Specifically, I conclude that the following new resources and activities were prudent and their associated costs reasonable for recovery in rates:  (1) the acquisition of a 100% interest in the Hopkins Ridge wind generating facility (“Hopkins Ridge”);  (2) the execution of the Arizona Public Service 2- year power purchase contract;  (3) the relicensing of the Snoqualmie Falls hydroelectric facility;  (4) the 2001 execution and 2005 amendment of contracts with Grant County PUD for the Priest Rapids and Wanapum hydroelectric projects;  (5) the execution of the gas supply cessation agreement with CanWest related to the Encogen facility, as well as the replacement contracts; and (6) the renewal of the PowerX contract for electric service to Pt. Roberts.  
HOPKINS RIDGE ACQUISITION

Q. 
In regard to PSE’s acquisition of Hopkins Ridge, was the decision to select this alternative prudent?

A.
Yes. 

Q.
What materials did you review in your analysis of the Hopkins Ridge  acquisition?

A.
I reviewed the testimony and exhibits of Company witnesses Mr. Markell, Mr. Garratt, Mr. Elsea and Ms. Ryan, as well as Company responses to data requests.  I also examined the Company portfolio model in reviewing the methodology employed.  I also interviewed Mr. Garratt and Mr. Elsea, and their supporting analysts, Mr. Tom Hiester and Ms. Aliza Seelig.  I examined the operation, construction and purchase documents, as well as material relating to bids, in the Company offices in Bellevue.
Q.
How do you define the term "prudent" for purposes of your analysis?
A.
I mean that the decision to acquire Hopkins Ridge was based upon appropriate, rational and reasoned methods, utilized appropriate data, and covered specific issues which the Commission listed in the 19th Supplemental Order in Docket No. UE-921262, the “Prudence Review”.   I discuss these factors in more detail below.  The Commission has also applied a "reasonableness" standard in assessing prudence: 

In evaluating prudency it is generally conceded that one cannot use the advantage of hindsight. The test this Commission applies to measure prudency is what would a reasonable board of directors and company management have decided given what they knew or reasonably should have known to be true at the time they made a decision. This test applies both to the question of need and the appropriateness of the expenditures."  WUTC v. Puget Sound Power and Light Co., 1st Supplemental Order at 32-33, Cause No. U-85-54 (1984).

The Commission relies upon a reasonableness standard.  The company must establish that it adequately studied the question of whether to purchase these resources and made a reasonable decision, using the data and methods that a reasonable management would have used at the time the decisions were made.   WUTC v. Puget Sound Power & Light Co., 19th  Supplemental Order at 10, Docket No. UE-921262, et al. (1994), citing, 2nd Supplemental Order, Cause No. U-85-53 (1986) and 5th Supplemental Order, Cause No. U-83-26 (1984).

Q.
Is the acquisition of a least cost resource a logically necessary result of a prudent decision?
A.
No.  Time may show that selecting a resource other than Hopkins Ridge would have actually resulted in lower observed costs.  The prudent decision is an act circumscribed by the small time frame surrounding it.

Q.
You indicated that you relied upon the Commission's 19th Supplemental Order in the Prudence Review?

A.
Yes.

Q.
What specific guidance does this Order provide for the analysis of PSE's decision to acquire Hopkins Ridge?

A.
It enumerates dispatchability, end-effects, and fuel price risk, among other variables for consideration.  It also discusses the value of market-based price discovery through bidding.  Further, it suggests that the methods and processes of decision-making are important to the scope of a prudence review.  This list constitutes the basis for the scope of the Staff review in this case.

Q.
Were other sources of data available in your review of the Hopkins Ridge acquisition?
A.
Yes.  I was lead Staff reviewer of PSE's Least Cost Plans for 2003 and 2005, as well as the Company’s Request for Proposal filing in 2003.  During the period of development and review, I gained knowledge of the methods employed by PSE and the opportunities facing the Company.  Further, after the 2003 RFP filing I followed the work of bid processing and evaluation.  The Company briefed Staff on the methods and assumptions employed in the work as it developed.
Q.
What methods were most important in PSE's decision-making?

A.
The most important methods were the Acquisition and Portfolio Analysis Modeling tools, the solicitation process itself, the use of scenarios, and the use of key qualitative reviews. The Portfolio Models allowed hourly dispatch modeling of each resource and contract alternative.  The process of solicitation provided an organized flow of information in a reasonably narrow time frame and allowed for bid clarification through discussion with PSE analysts.  The use of scenarios of fuel costs allowed for an analysis of price level and volatility and therefore of fuel risk on the portfolio.
Q.
Were qualitative assessments important in the overall screening and acquisition process?
A.
Yes.  The prominent qualitative checks were for ownership or likelihood of getting siting permits, current existence or likelihood of obtaining appropriate transmission rights, and likelihood of project completion without disruption.
Q.
Please describe the process which PSE used in accepting, organizing and evaluating bids.

A.
The Company accepted bids from all resource providers.  The Company organized the documents into a data base of key information including delivery date, capacity and energy offered, contract or equity status, developed or to be constructed, as well as fuel and transmission arrangements.  Some variables were quantitative and some were qualitative.   Some screening for reasonableness was performed at this level.  The remaining offers were modeled in "Stage 1" of the assessment.  


Stage 1 assessment was driven by the use of the Acquisition Screening Model (ASM), which produced a 20-year levelized cost estimate for each alternative. This stage weighed contract costs, investment requirements, fuel costs,  transmission costs to PSE load, and end effects.   


Stage 2 assessment was applied to the highest ranked candidates determined by Stage 1.   Stage 2 employed a more complex model, the Portfolio Selection Model (PSM), using updated capacity prices, gas costs and simulated market data.  It also added gas and wind volatility variables and employed the Monte Carlo method to estimate average portfolio costs and the variance of average portfolio costs.
Q. 
Of the list of candidates that survived this process, what qualities characterized Hopkins Ridge as the preferred alternative for acquisition at the time?

A.
This candidate had the best combination of price, delivery date in 2005, credible transmission access, and counter-party engineering and financial credibility.  During the time elapsed since the Hopkins decision, other surviving candidates have become better understood and may be acquired in the future.  Those decisions are not within the scope of this Docket, however.
Q. 
Did PSE also consider end-effects and reliability? 

A.
Yes.

Q.
Did PSE consider location with respect to control area and transmission constraints?

A.
Yes.

Q. 
Did PSE consider that fuel prices may vary over the life of the resource? 

A.
Yes.

Q. 
Did PSE view the results under varying hydrological conditions?

A. 
Yes.

Q.
Did you find any evidence of systematic bias in favor of or against a particular choice of technology or strategy?

A.
No. 

Q.
Were any costs or benefits hidden in your opinion?

A.
No, in my view, every material cost and every measurable benefit was examined in either a qualitative or quantitative manner.  The treatment of imputed debt follows closely the suggestions in Standard & Poors documents.  However, imputed debt calculations did not impact the final selection because other variables such as provision of transmission service to PSE load and financial credibility narrowed the field. 
Q.
Was risk appropriately considered for each resource modeled?

A.
Yes.  The risk associated with gas fuel market price and electric market price was modeled.  Further, the effect of hydrological conditions was modeled by using market demand under average 40-year hydro conditions.  These elements of risk to the cost of power supply are the major considerations of operational risk.  Carbon tax scenarios were also considered as an ownership risk.

Q. 
Please summarize the basis for your conclusion that the acquisition of Hopkins Ridge by PSE was a prudent decision.

A.
The Company had a clear documented need for power in the near term.  It also had a deliberate, organized process for soliciting and evaluating bids.  It examined a self-build option.  It examined contract purchases and ownership of new resources.  It kept detailed records of crafting the evaluation method, data acquisition, and resource evaluation.  The evaluation process was largely a matter of modeling that can be replicated. 

Q.
What do you conclude about the reasonableness of the cost of Hopkins Ridge?
A.
I reviewed PSE's comparison of Hopkins Ridge to other resources.  I also compared its average $/kW cost to other averages currently available to me.  For the 2003-2005 periods, the Hopkins Ridge price level is within a reasonable margin of these planning values.  
Q
Does this conclude your discussion of the Hopkins Ridge acquisition?

A.
Yes.  I will now turn to the other prudence items.
OTHER RESOURCE DECISIONS

Q.
Does the standard for prudence you discussed earlier apply to the other resource decisions covered in your testimony?
A.
Yes, in general the same standard applies, but the particular features of a prudent decision vary with the sort of resource being considered.
Q.
Did you consider the prudence of acquiring the 2-year APS contract?
A.
Yes.  The contract is round the clock, delivered within the PSE service territory from the Centralia plant south of Olympia, priced below market, and provides capacity and energy.  The Company considered three other 2-year deals that were more expensive and had constraints in transmission.  Moreover, since the contract has a market price structure that hedges against weather, gas price and water risks, these risks were considered in the acquisition decision.  Thus, I conclude that the decision to purchase was prudent.
Q.
Did you consider the relicensing of the Snoqualmie Falls Hydroelectric project?
A.
Yes. The value of dollars spent to re-license the plant were smaller than the market's present value of the power which it produces.  This market comparison provides a reasonable approximation of the risks of gas fuel, hydro conditions, and availability of the plant.  Since the benefits exceed the costs and these factors were considered, I conclude that this decision was prudent.
Q.  
Did you consider the Grant County PUD contract adjustments for Priest Rapids and Wanapum?
A.
Yes. The contracts were renegotiated at higher prices, but PSE had little chance of avoiding that result.  The benefits of the project’s hydro output also had a present value in excess of the present value of their costs.  Thus. I conclude that these decisions were prudent.

Q.  
Did you consider the settlement of the CanWest gas contract for the Encogen plant?

A.
Yes.  I examined the data request responses in Docket No. UE-041846.  I also read testimony in this case on the matter, and I discussed the matter with Company representatives.  I concluded that the net effect of the new contract price and the application of the damage settlement benefits on the final price of gas for Encogen is reasonable.  Compared to gas forward prices at the time, the net present value of savings was positive.  Thus, I believe the decision was prudent. 
Q. 
 Finally, did you review the PowerX contract renewal decision for Pt. Roberts?
A.
Yes.  PSE searched for alternatives and considered construction of capacity on site, delivery from other providers, and the PowerX supply.  The cost of capacity exceeded the PowerX contract price and no other provider could wheel power to the Pt. Roberts delivery point.  It is clear that, at the time, all alternatives were considered and the features of the load requirement were weighed.  The decision was made in a universe with few members, and the choice was prudent. 
Q. 
Does this conclude your testimony?

A.
Yes.  
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